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APPENDIX D - CITY OF AUBURN SOLID WASTE COLLECTION RFP 

RESPONSE TO INDUSTRY REVIEW COMMENTS 

DECEMBER 16, 2019 

 Section Hauler Question/Comment Response  Action 

1.  RFP General Recology Why has the City decided to take this contract out to bid at this point, given that a similar RFP was issued and 

then rescinded four years ago?  What factors have changed that prompted the City’s decision? 

The City released an RFB in 2016 in the hopes that the City ownership of 

carts and a competitive environment would reduce rates under a new 

contract cycle.  However, the City still had extensions available under 

the existing contract, which reduced industry interest in bidding, as 

prospective bidders expected their proposed bids would be higher than 

the current contract rates.  They logically concluded that the City would 

likely choose to terminate the RFB process and instead exercise the 

City’s option to extend the existing contract, which is exactly what 

occurred. 

The City no longer has additional extensions available and must procure 

a new contract.  Based on industry feedback, the City is conducting an 

RFP rather than an RFB. 

None. 

2.  RFP General CG Would the City consider qualitative points for Women and/or Minority owned businesses? The City’s purchasing policy is silent on this subject, and therefore the 

City does not investigate or verify “MWB/WBE” ownership status for 

any procurement processes, and there is no City framework to 

qualitatively evaluate ownership status. 

None. 

3.  RFP General CG In the City’s / rate payers’ best interest, it would be wise to add a clause to the RFP that states (draft of 

course): “The City of Auburn may elect to separately award contracts for residential and commercial services”. 

We believe this would ensure clarity and cost of service when contractors distribute rates among service 

levels, avoiding the risk of one sector subsidizing another. 

The City has lean staffing and is not in a staffing position to split the 

main collection contract into multiple contracts. Transitioning City 

utility billing to a billing agent will be challenging with one contractor 

and would be very difficult with two or three contractors. 

None. 

4.  RFP General CG The City has made it clear they are looking for a “cost of service” rate model without allowing the commercial 

sector to ‘subsidize’ the residential. Is rate subsidization factored into your quantitative analysis? In other 

words, if a bidder showed the lowest overall cost, but they were the highest cost for commercial services and 

the lowest cost for residential services. 

The City seeks generally cost-of-service wholesale rates, but will not 

police proponents’ approaches to cost-of-service allocations between 

ratepayers.  The City’s objective in supporting cost-of-service 

wholesales rates is to avoid situations where either uneven growth 

rates between sectors or annexing an area with a different customer 

results in a contractor request for a rate adjustment due to a revenue 

shortfall.  The rate component of proposals will continue to be scored 

on the overall proposed cost of the proposal across all lines of business. 

None. 

5.  RFP General CG Multiple prospective bidders have recommended the removal of embedded residential rates in recent RFP’s. 

This should be seriously considered and the City should respond to its prospective haulers and their knowledge 

of the industry. While organics are deemed subscription, they have the 180 clause that can change to 

embedded rates at any time. Will the City please consider removing this clause? Now that recycling clearly has 

a cost, why not simply have a separate line item for each service? The City can make recycling and / or yard 

waste mandatory if they are concerned about participation, but quality of contents in the recycling programs is 

key and embedded rates is a large risk to contamination. In both instances, we believe stability would provide 

a better rate to the rate payer. 

The City has considered this and prefers to keep services bundled, as 

they have been for two decades.  Although some haulers have stated 

that they believe that itemizing rates will reduce contamination, we fail 

to see the connection, and there does not appear to be a significant 

difference between WUTC and City contract contamination rates, when 

controlled for demographics.  The City prefers haulers to focus on 

directly addressing contamination with customers and identifying (and 

removing) customers causing contamination. 

None. 
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6.  RFP General CG If the City were to have all proponents submit prices based off of actual service levels by solid waste line item, 

the risk of “projections, assumptions, and estimated diversion percentages” are eliminated and the 

comparability of proposals is made possible for the City. 

The City prefers the approach of retaining internal contractor incentives 

to encourage customers to shift materials from disposal to diversion 

programs (as well as practicing waste reduction).  This incentive aligns 

with the City’s preference for waste reduction and recycling. 

None 

7.  RFP General CG Understanding the RFP’s experience section, can the City elaborate on how it allocates scores in this section? 

For example, if a proposer has been in the solid waste collection and processing for over 80 years, but it does 

not currently hold a municipal collection contract, will they be docked points? If so, how do you expect to 

attract new entrants to provide proposals? 

Any proponent without a current city contract is at a disadvantage, but 

may overcome that disadvantage if other parts of the proposal 

compensate accordingly.  No points are specifically “docked” for the 

lack of current city contracts.  The City’s evaluation team will consider 

each proponent’s qualifications as part of the overall qualitative 

scoring. 

None. 

8.  RFP General CG Would the City consider a 50/50 scoring model between quantitative and qualitative? Especially with the 

national sword, challenges in contamination, and changes in the solid waste industry, the proposer may not be 

incentivized to be creative and address industry issues in exchange to show a lower price on the overall bid 

package. In most instances, although the price may seem high for the one-year projection, the creative bid 

could be considerably cheaper in the long run as it accounts for improvements and changes that are necessary 

to take place. A 50 / 50 scoring model would encourage stronger, more innovative proposals. 

No, rates are very important to Auburn customers and the City already 

increased the qualitative component in response to its meetings with 

prospective proposers.  

None. 

9.  RFP General CG We strongly urge the City to revise the Process section to include Council and the Mayor’s office in the review 

of all proposals, prior to negotiating additional terms to the contract and presenting a fully negotiated 

contract. This is one of, if not, the largest and the longest-term contracts the City administers. It takes a 

tremendous amount of work, financial investment and time to create a proposal. The Council and Mayor’s 

office should have the opportunity to hear about all creative proposals submitted, including processing 

locations, truck types, customer service, etc.… not just the fully executed contract with one service provider. 

See Kirkland for an example of fair comparison of proposals and preparation of an agenda packet for Council 

review. Alternatives should also be a Council decision and discussed after staff is given direction on which 

proposer to negotiate with, not a key discussion in a council meeting to select a new or incumbent contractor. 

The alternatives are not a key determining factor in who to choose and they muddy the discussion as to who is 

the best collector and processor for the City. 

The City Council serves as the legislative branch establishing policies and 

passing all ordinances and resolutions. The Mayor oversees the 

development and implementation of these policies and ensures the 

efficient and effective delivery of all City Services.  

Conducting competitive processes, such as this Solid Waste RFP, is an 

administrative function completed by City staff, sometimes with the 

support of a consultant (e.g., infrequent special processes). As such, City 

staff is responsible for issuing the RFP, evaluating results, negotiating a 

contract, and bringing the results to Council for review and approval for 

the Mayor to execute the contract. 

City Councils rely on staff to conduct a fair and transparent process and 

bring the result forward for Council review and approval.  Requesting 

Council to evaluate proposals without Council members conducting 

appropriate due diligence firsthand (reviewing the proposals, attending 

interviews, visiting facilities, and checking references) could raise 

questions about the basis for selecting a particular contractor, and limit 

the City’s capacity to meet the standard of an objective, fair, and 

transparent process. 

Regarding when in the process the contract is negotiated, the City’s 

best negotiating position is obviously prior to Council selection, when 

the selected contractor is highly motivated to offer the best terms and 

rates to gain approval of their contract.  Negotiating a contract after the 

Council has essentially awarded the contract, puts staff in a poor 

position to get the best services and rates for the City’s ratepayers. 

None. 

10.  RFP General CG A quantitative and qualitative scoring rubric should be used to provide transparency and objectivity to this 
process for all bidders to ensure each proposal is fairly explained to council.  This rubric with scoring for all 
proposals should be provided to Council prior to contract selection and negotiation. 

The City prefers to be able to score proposals comparatively and 

without constraints on scoring, so as to be able to respond to proposals 

with unexpected benefits. 
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11.  RFP General CG How would the City score proposals that do not have firm organics processing commitments for the duration 

of contract? 

Early in the development of composting and recycling programs, there 

was more concern that a facility may not be available for a city’s 

materials.   Now composting processing is a more mature open market 

with multiple vendors, including the possibility that hauling companies 

may choose to handle these materials in-house.  The draft contract 

does not obligate the contractor to deliver compostables materials to 

any particular facility (identified in their proposal or not) over the 

course of the contract term.   

None. 

12.  RFP General CG How would Auburn score local processing in King County, as opposed to out of County or out of state options? 

Will you factor in carbon footprint, the expenditure of fossil fuels, and other sustainability measures? 

The City evaluation committee may consider these elements. None. 

13.  RFP General CG Will Auburn provide points for local, Teamsters jobs for organics processing as opposed to non-union options? The City does not have a position on the type of staffing preferred by 

any of the contractor’s subcontractors.  

None. 

14.  RFP General CG How will Auburn view a proposal that does not offer to ‘close the loop’ and provide the option of using the 

compost created from Auburn’s organics back in the City of Auburn? 

In the event that the City purchases compost products, it may choose to 

favor the composting subcontractor’s products.  Since this would apply 

to any contractor, it is not a particular benefit in any proposal to this 

RFP. 

None. 

15.  RFP General CG Embedded residential rates provide a major challenge to bidders, especially local and private haulers. With 
interest in Auburn’s solid waste collection service, we ask that the City separates each line item of residential 
service by way of bid and billing to the customer. Revising the pricing model should not add cost to the rate 
payer and it would provide a proper mechanism to address the changes in the industry by all line items, 
concerns over long-term outlook in recycling markets, and drastically reduce contamination in both streams. 
Additional thoughts on why this is so important:  

 As recently noted in a nearby City RFP, if it is the Cities’ intent to meet the King County 
Comprehensive Plan goal of zero waste by 2030, and if zero waste were achieved there would be 
no garbage, therefore zero revenue to pay for organics and recycling services that have an actual 
cost attached to them causing major risk for the stability of this contract. 

 Bundled residential rates do not incentivize the hauler to push for zero waste, it actually 
disincentivizes them as they have no mechanism to be paid when their efforts result in further 
waste reduction. 

 As customers reduce their garbage container size to save money as incentivized by bundled rates, 
the contractor still collects up to 96-gallon recycling and organics containers. When their small 
garbage container fills up, the customer has a propensity to dispose of their garbage in either the 
recycling or organics container if space is available. We have increasingly seen contamination in 
our feedstocks and often times it is full bags of garbage. We can directly attribute this new stream 
of contamination to single family homes and multifamily residences reducing their garbage service 
to offset costs.  We also see this in the commercial sector when rates are bundled.   

 A cost of service model will be much more transparent, resulting in a reduced cost for the rate 
payer and eliminating 10+ year assumptions by bidders. 

 

We strongly advise the City to untangle residential bundled rates and simply ask bidders to submit a cost of 

service bid on all 3 components of residential collection. 

The City currently has embedded recycling and may expand that 

concept to compostables collection.  Bundled services are convenient 

for customers, provide diversion incentives and reduce billing questions 

from customers.  If a proposer has reliable data that indicates that line 

item charging for diversion programs increases diversion and/or 

reduces contamination, please provide references and the City will 

consider that option if that proposer is selected as the City’s contractor. 

This approach has not caused difficulties pricing rates for existing 

collection companies, nor is there risk for the City.  Proponent’s pricing 

models should include the fixed costs of operating three streams of 

collection, disposal/recycling costs, avoided disposal costs gained by 

shifting material away from disposal, and the impact of any increased 

education/promotion activities. 

The “zero waste” concept holds that no recoverable materials will be 

disposed as garbage, not that there would be no garbage.  With 

bundled services customers are paying for garbage and recycling 

streams of collection with one rate, so they will continue to pay for 

those streams, even if zero waste is achieved. 

Bundled rates do incentivize the contractor to shift materials from 

higher cost disposal stream to recycling and composting streams with 

lower per unit processing costs. It is the contractor’s responsibility to 

develop rate modeling that accurately reflects the composition and 

quantity of each of the streams. 

Regarding contamination, the new contract will include increased 

contamination monitoring and enforcement methods.  Customer 

attempts to reduce garbage costs by contaminating recyclables and 

None. 
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compostables may result in suspension of those services and increased 

garbage collection costs for that customer. 

Regarding recycling and composting market risk, the draft contract has 

provisions that allow for recycling market adjustments to reduce 

contractor risk. 

Regarding fairly comparing rate proposals: each proponent needs to 

make competent projections on material streams and propose rates 

accordingly.  If a contractor focuses on effective promotion and 

education, they would presumably propose lower rates to reflect the 

lower cost for managing recyclables and compostables.  Managing the 

risk inherent in forecasting materials flows is the responsibility of the 

proponent. 

Regarding cost-of-service rate regulation, the need for recurring, costly 

audits to attempt to verify the contractor’s discrete costs and revenues 

would lead to unwieldy disputes between the parties. While the 

contractor operates as a quasi-utility, at its core it is a for-profit 

business capable of distributing costs and revenues in ways that cannot 

readily be determined via an outside audit. Because of these 

limitations, cost-of-service rate regulation is not in the interests of 

Auburn’s ratepayers. 

16.  RFP General CG We suggest that proposed compost facilities must be currently permitted, contain O and M plans with 

approved technology with permitted capacities, and operating in order to limit risk to the City. 

Since there are multiple facilities available, any difficulties with 

developing a new facility would be mitigated by redirecting materials to 

another existing facility.  The specific regulatory compliance of a 

composting subcontractor is beyond the ability of the City to monitor 

and enforce.  The contract requires compliance with applicable laws 

and regulations, which should address this concern. 

None. 

17.  RFP General CG We advise the City to require proposed compost facilities to meet or exceed Washington state standards for 
compost facilities for design and construction requirements under WAC 173-350-220 and provide continuous 
testing of final compost product to make sure that it meets state Compost Quality Standards under WAC 173-
350-220. 

The City is unable to duplicate the regulation provided by local health 

districts for the Department of Ecology.  The contract requires the 

Contractor (and by extension, subcontracted facilities) to comply with 

all applicable laws and regulations. 

None. 

18.  RFP General CG In the City’s / rate payers’ best interest, would the City be willing to separately contract for organics 

processing? This would ensure a direct pass-through rate from processor to the City, as well as give the City 

the direct ability to negotiate acceptance lists, terms, control of materials and location in which they are 

processed, etc.… 

No, as noted in Question #3, the City does not have the staffing to 

manage additional contracts, nor are there any clear benefits to having 

the City insert itself into the operational relationship between the 

collector and processor. 

None. 

19.  RFP General CG Sustainable and local purchasing policies are critical to long term regional success and reducing carbon 
footprint. Local processing sequesters carbon, saves fossil fuels, and allows for this region to take advantage of 
the environmental benefits compost provides by adding nutrients to the earth, filtering stormwater runoff, 
among many other great sustainable qualities.  Not to mention, King County has a massive demand for 
compost related products on very large government and private jobs coming up in the next decade. We highly 
advise the City to include language ensuring organics processing stays local, while also including a local / 
sustainable purchasing policy for compost. Composting is not considered recycled until it is re-used. Auburn 
has the ability to be the industry leader by ensuring the reuse of the product its residents and businesses 
generate. Since the City contractually directs organics to composting, it would be great if they did the same for 
the reuse of the composted materials. Please see the below language that currently exists in the San Antonio, 
Texas’s organics program which includes a buyback program: 

Although the City agrees with some of these preferences, limiting 

collection contractors to one in-County facility would be anti-

competitive and not in the best interests of the City’s ratepayers. 

Regarding the buy-back of compost, the City will follow its procurement 

policies for the purchase of any future compost and is not interested in 

tying the two topics together in the collection contract. 

None. 
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20.  RFP General CG Thank you for all your efforts and improvements in contamination reduction. One of, if not the greatest 

challenge in contamination is the inability to see what is in the container prior to dumping. An automated side 

loader (ASL) does not allow for this. We highly advise the City to eliminate the option to use an ASL. 

We agree that ASL’s are not optimal for monitoring on-route 

contamination.  The RFP has been revised to state this and to include 

this in the qualitative evaluation of proposals. 

Changes as noted. 

21.  RFP Section 

1.2 

Recology 1. How many residences in the Republic Services area are not subscribing to garbage service and would be 

subject to a new mandatory ordinance? 

2. How many customers within the WM sections of the City are not subscribing to garbage service in spite of 

the mandatory requirement? 

3. If the City has performed no verification of the 2017-2019 data provided by the existing contractors, what 

does the City use this information for currently? 

4. Does the City have confidence in the data provided by the existing contractors in their annual reports? 

5. Is the current commercial recycling considered “embedded” up to 150%?  Or is the contractor obligated to 

provide up to 150% recycling service in spite of a customer being able to go to an outside hauler? 

6. In addition to tonnages, could the City please provide the last three years of complete annual reports 

provided to the City by the Contractor?  Is there similar information the City could provide in its role as the 

billing entity? 

1. The final RFP includes this information. 

2. Essentially none.  Mandatory collection is strictly enforced. 

3. The City has not audited route or scale weight data, however, 

the City has no reason to expect that the reported data is 

inaccurate. 

4. See #3. 

5. The current contract requires that the Contractor make 

recyclable available to customers at the 150% of garbage 

service level.  There is no obligation on the part of customers to 

use that service or restriction from obtaining those services 

through another contractor. 

6. The final RFP includes those annual reports.  Note that the 

Muckleshoot tribe started collecting garbage from the areas 

within the City that they authority in July 2019.  The customer 

counts and tonnages after July 2019 reflect the subtraction of 

these areas.  Regarding the City role as billing entity, specific 

questions directed to the City during the RFP process. 

 

Changes as noted. 

22.  RFP Section 

1.2 

WM 1. “Although the City will shift to a contractor billing agent relationship for billing, the City should still be able 

to enforce mandatory collection through its management of the other utility billing functions.” How does 

the City propose enforcing mandatory service if the customer does not pay for services; would the City still 

pay the Contractor and pursue collections with the customer? Alternatively, would the City allow the 

Contractor to discontinue service for bad pay? 

2. “Although the City has the option to gain ownership of the existing Waste Management carts, the 

Proponent’s base proposal shall be based on the use of new carts, with the use of the existing carts priced 

as a proposal alternative.” The Residential Bid Alternatives does not list this. 

3. “All carts and other containers in the Republic Services area are owned by that company and are not 

subject to ownership transfer or sale through the City’s current contract with Republic.”  Please provide 

the number of carts/containers by size for Republic Services area. 

1. The Contractor will be paid for all collections provided. 

Mandatory collection will be managed in accordance with the 

billing operations plan developed between the City and the 

contractor.  The City expects to continue to use some of its 

existing tools and policies to enforce mandatory collection. 

2. The final RFP includes that alternative. 

3. The final RFP includes those counts. 

 

Changes/updates as noted. 

23.  RFP Section 

1.3.1 

Recology 1. Does “shifting all container ownership” relate to just metal containers, or does it include carts as well? 

2. Can the City clarify what public information materials the City may choose to develop and the 

frequency these may be printed and distributed, so proposers can determine costs?    

1. All defined “Containers,” per the contract. 

2. The City does not expect to develop any major materials that 

would be financially burdensome to the contractor.  This is 

No changes. 



 6 

intended to allow the City to provide customers with updates as 

needed. 

24.  RFP Section 

2.4 

Recology Since there is three months between the deadline for proposer questions and proposal submission, we 
recommend the City conduct two rounds of Q&A.  In a procurement of this size, proposers may have 
additional questions that arise after the first Q&A period; three months should provide ample time for a 
second round of questions. 

The RFP has been revised to formalize two rounds of Q&A. Changes as noted. 

25.  RFP Section 

2.6 

Recology We encourage the City to conduct site visits of potential contractors’ facilities.  However, if the City decides to 
conduct visits, we recommend the City visit all proposers’ facilities, including the incumbent’s.  This will give 
the City a present day comparison of each site for accurate comparison. 

Noted. No changes. 

26.  RFP Section 

2.7 

WM Page 11: “All Proposals shall be provided in year-2021 dollars.”  Should King County implement a disposal 
increase after 1/1/20 increase will we be allowed to adjust our proposed rates? Yes, as stated in the second paragraph of the Form 2 instructions. No changes. 

27.  RFP Section 

2.11.1 

WM In order to provide transparency would the City consider adding qualitative scoring criteria/details all 
proposals will be scored on? 

 No, see Question #10. No changes. 

28.  RFP Section 

2.11.2 

WM Page 14: Please provide the names of individuals who will be part of the evaluation team along with their 
respective titles and organizations. 

The evaluation team will likely consist of 3-5 staff members from 

various City departments.  Specific staffing decisions will not be shared 

with prospective proponents prior to proposal evaluation. 

No changes. 

29.  RFP Section 

2.11.2 

WM Please clarify Council’s role in the decision-making process.  Will Council be provided the opportunity to review 
and decide on all base proposals along with the with alternatives? 

Qualitative scoring of base proposals is a staff function.  Quantitative 

rate data will be verified once compiled via the consultant, based on 

proponents’ Form 2 submissions.  Summary scoring of each proposal 

will be provided to Councilmembers, who may choose to review 

individual proposals in more detail if they wish. The City Council will 

ultimately make the final contract award decision.  

No changes 

 

30.  RFP Section 

2.16 

Recology Will proponents be disqualified for violating the process integrity requirements, including requesting other 
proponents proposals in advance of a decision by the City? Is this section in conflict with 2.13? As stated in RFP Section 2.16, “A Proposer may be disqualified and, if 

so, shall forfeit its PSB if the City determines the Proposer has failed to 

comply with the specific Process Integrity Requirements, has 

undermined the City’s intention of conducting a fair and transparent 

competitive procurement process, or has otherwise substantially 

diminished the City’s ability to award a Contract in a timely manner and 

free of contention.  The City reserves the sole right to disqualify any 

Proposer at any point in the process prior to Contract award for failure 

to comply with the Process Integrity Requirements.”   If any Proposer 

files public records requests to obtain competing proposals during the 

evaluation phase, the request will be processed consistent with the 

Public Records Act (chapter 42.56 RCW), and third party notice 

requirements pursuant to RCW 42.56.540 may delay disclosure of 

public records until after the City makes its award decision. 

 

No changes. 
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As stated in RFP Section 2.13, “If the City receives a request for 

inspection or copying of such documents and other records, it will make 

an effort to promptly notify the Proposer of such request so that the 

Proposer may choose to pursue a court order prohibiting or 

conditioning the release of such documents.  The City assumes no 

contractual obligation to enforce any exemption…  Proposers are 

cautioned to not include any confidential or proprietary information 

with their Proposals which they do not want disclosed.  The City shall 

not be liable for or responsible for the disclosure of such information.” 

31.  RFP 3.1.C.2 Recology 1. Since the City “considers customer service to be a very important aspect” of this contract, we propose 
the City require contractors to maintain a call center in the Puget Sound Region.  Three of the four 
potential bidders have proposed local call centers in past procurement processes in the area; we feel 
this is an achievable requirement, and important to the quality of service for the City.  It is important 
that customer service agents know the local nuances of weather, terrain, traffic patterns, and 
neighborhoods.  A call center outside of the region would not have this knowledge.   

2. We propose the City require for a written process on how local customer service representatives 

would be involved in the onboarding process to become “experts” for the City of Auburn. 

The location of the customer service facility may be a qualitative 
evaluation factor. Customer service aspects related to functionality, 
responsiveness, and generic quality of customer care are additional 
qualitative evaluation factors. The City is also interested in how 
proponents plan to accommodate advances in customer service, 
incorporating benefits from evolutions in media, technology and 
electronic communications.  

No changes. 

32.  RFP Form 2 Recology Alternative 2:   Please clarify the frequency and container size of embedded compostables.  Also, please 

confirm that customers will not be able to opt out of this service, should this alternative be chosen by the City.  

Mandatory service helps increase diversion rates, lowers contamination levels, and stabilizes rates across a 

consistent customer base. 

The RFP has been updated.  If this service is embedded in rates, it will 
be a mandatory service component. Changes as noted. 

33.  RFP Form 2 Republic When considering pricing models for carts and containers, the difference between each size should only reflect 

the difference between the disposal costs associated with each different weight size. The cost of service and 

collection remains the same, no matter what size the container or cart 

Each contractor may use its own definition of cost of service.  Some 
may chose to use this approach, others may choose to model marginal 
costs of tonnage on route costs, internal avoided costs, or other 
considerations. 

No changes. 

34.  RFP Form 2 WM What is the basis for the pre-determined service fees on extras and other ancillary services? They match the values used in other City procurements.  They roughly 
align with average hauler charges, but may be slightly under or over 
actual cost of service, as determined by a prospective proponent.  

No changes. 

35.  RFP Form 2 WM Why are commercial compacted containers on a per pick up basis rather than monthly as are most of the other 

services?  

 

 To allow the few compacting front-load container customers to tailor 
service to their needs.  Some will choose to have automatic weekly 
collection (regardless of percentage fullness), while others may choose 
to take on the burden of monitoring fullness and having on-call 
collection.  Charging per pick-up allows either approach without 
penalty. 

No changes. 

36.  RFP Form 2 WM Form 2 does not include the rate for the commodity value and should be added. The Final Form 2 has the appropriate cell. 
Changes as noted. 

37.  Contract – 

Section 2 

WM After ten years, many cost factors have changed as well as keeping contract language updated.  Please 

consider mutual extensions, instead of City-sole, which more accurately reflects a partnership agreement. 

The City has reviewed this again and will retain the contract language 
with one City option for extension. No changes. 

38.  Contract – 

Section 2 

Recology We propose that the contract extension be by mutual agreement between the City and the contractor, or 

otherwise allow certain portions of the contract to be renegotiated.  Extension by mutual agreement is 

beneficial for the City because many aspects of the industry will change over a 10 year initial term.  The City 

should have the option to take advantage of potential improvements in safety, new programs, pilot programs, 

and technologies.  Extending the contract by mutual agreement or allowing certain portions of the contract to 

be renegotiated helps ensure services continue to meet the City’s needs, while ensuring the contractor has the 

necessary capital and equipment to offer safe and effective programs. 

See question #37. 
No changes. 

39.  Section 4.1.1 WM Please provide a list of any anticipated annexations within the next 12 years. The City’s Potential Annexation Area has been provided as an 
attachment to the RFP. 

RFP attachment added. 
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40.  Section 4.1.2 Recology Can the City please provide a current count of homes serviced by limited access vehicles and a list of streets 

that require such service?  Additionally, can the City provide a map, or listing, of all private roads? 

Auburn has very few customers that are not on regular curbside service.   
7 residential accounts have carryout service and only 13 current 
accounts have drive-in service.  A specific customer list is available upon 
request. 

No changes. 

41.  Section 4.1.3 Recology Can the City provide a list of customers, or at least a few examples of locations in the City, that are commercial 

but within audible distance of residential customers? 

Any areas with adjacent land uses.  For example, see Auburn Way. 
No changes. 

42.  Section 4.1.3 Recology Can the City clarify expectations around Saturday collections relating to missed pick-ups?  Is it the City’s 

expectation that missed pick-ups be collected on Saturdays, including in residential areas, or is this simply an 

option? 

Missed Friday pick-ups will be collected the following Monday, not 
Saturday.  Regular Saturday collection is for commercial/multifamily 
customers only. 

No changes. 

43.  Section 4.1.3 Republic Would the City consider adding a need for earlier collection where a high-risk of a safety hazard is shown, and 

that a variance shall not be unreasonably withheld? Or allowing the collection time between 5:00 am and 6:00 

pm? 

Yes.  City staff will have authority under the contract to allow the 
contractor variances from those hours under those conditions.  That 
authority will be final, not subject to “shall not be unreasonably 
withheld” limitations. 

No changes. 

44.  Section 4.1.3 WM Please clarify if residential customer zones are 7:00am to 5:00pm or 7:00am to 6:00pm for collections.  There 

is conflicting information between 1st and 2nd paragraph of this section.  

The latter. 
The contract has been revised. 

45.  Section 4.1.5 Recology Can the City please provide a list of all current customers who receive service under this section (or a count)? The count has been provided within the RFP document. The RFP has been updated. 

46.  Section 4.1.5 WM Is there a limit on the number of Single-Family carryout services and how does the City currently handle 

qualification for this service? 

There is no limit, though the total number is less than 100 households.  
The City handles qualification, including confirming that nobody else at 
a house is able to set out containers. 

No changes. 

47.  Section 4.1.13 WM Using natural gas as fuel reduces dependence on imported oil and reduces greenhouse gas emissions.  Please 

consider adding a requirement for Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) fuel collection trucks to maintain 

consistency with current operations.   

No, fuel type will be a qualitative evaluation item.  The City does not 
wish to limit proposals to only those companies with existing natural 
gas fueling facilities. 

No changes. 

48.  Section 4.1.14 Recology We propose the City establish guidelines for the prior contractor’s cart collection at the end of the contract 

term.  Unexpected collection of unwanted or obsolete carts is a costly and time consuming endeavor.  Without 

knowing how many would be obsolete, nor whether the incumbent is interested in reclaiming their carts, 

makes it difficult to establish a cost basis. 

The City’s current contract with WM includes the following provisions 
(Section 2.3.7): 

“The Contractor shall be expected to work with the City and any 

successive contractor(s) in good faith to ensure a minimum of 

Customer disruption during the transition period.  Container removal 

and replacement shall be coordinated between the Contractor and a 

successive contractor to occur simultaneously in order to minimize 

Customer inconvenience. 

The Contractor shall provide a detailed updated Customer list, 

including Customer name, service address, mailing address, and 

collection and Container rental service levels to the successive 

contractor within seven (7) days request of the City. 

The parties recognize that a failure to comply with this provision 
will damage the City, but that determination of such damage will be 
difficult and burdensome; therefore, the parties agree that in the 
event of a breach of this provision and Contractor’s failure to cure 
such breach as described in Section 4.2, the Contractor, or the 
Contractor’s surety, shall pay the City one hundred thousand dollars 
($100,000.00) for the material breach of this contract provision.  
Payment shall be made within twenty (20) business days of the end 
of this contract.” 

No changes. 
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The Republic Contract includes the following language: 

“The Contractor shall be expected to work with the City and the 
successive contractor in good faith to ensure a minimum of 
customer disruption during the transition period. Commercial 
and Residential container removal and replacement shall be 
coordinated between current and successive contractors to 
occur simultaneously to minimize customer inconvenience.” 

49.  Section 

4.1.14.1 

WM The current contract only includes 20, 35, 64, 96-gallon carts.  What is the reason for including a new 45-gallon 

cart requirement?  We believe this cart size (also shown in Form 2) should be removed.  It is unnecessary and 

requires the company to maintain an inventory of carts that are rarely used. 

This allows customers a mid-point between the two most common 
container sizes.  Auburn’s retail rates are roughly linear, so there is a 
very large cost difference between a 32 and 64 gallon cart.  Introducing 
a mid-point cart mitigates that cost difference. 

No change. 

50.  Section 

4.1.14.2 

WM There are additional costs in providing Drop Boxes with screen top or solid top lids.  Please consider allowing 

an extra charge for such lids upon customer request customer. 

Agreed. The contract has been revised 

accordingly. 

51.  Section 4.1.18 Republic While we are not arguing against this section, would the City also consider adding language to this section to 

also request the Union to negotiate, as this current language does encourage the Union to strike and thus 

penalizes the Hauler. 

 The contract will be between the City and the Contractor, so City 
direction or “request” to another party would have no standing. No change. 

52.  Section 4.1.18 Republic Contractor may not be able to share all of its positions on pending labor actions as they may be protected by 

the attorney-client privilege, the work product doctrine or confidentiality obligations to employees/labor 

unions.  Therefore, we would like to include a carve-out to this section to address these concerns. 

The City would be amendable to some restrictions on the information 
provided to the City, however the City needs to be provided with timely 
updates on the progress of negotiations, including the nature of 
disputes and how potential resolutions may affect the City.  Restrictions 
may be discussed during contract finalization. 

No change at this time. 

53.  Section 4.1.20 Republic Contractor should not be responsible for damage to pavement or curbing if Contractor is operating its vehicles 

within the legal weight limits and is not negligent. 

 

Some damage may occur even if a vehicle is operating within weight 
limits. 

No change. 

54.  Section 4.1.24 WM Would Auburn allow routes to cross jurisdictional boundaries provided Contractor’s allocation methodology 

was acceptable to City staff? 

No, the City prefers pure routes, particularly in the case that the City 
pays disposal directly. No change. 

55.  Section 4.1.25 WM Since King County prohibits yard waste in garbage, should the reference to “obvious amounts” be deleted? No.  If yard waste is not obvious, then the City would expect the 
garbage set out to be collected.  If there are visible yard debris, that is 
considered “obvious” and the set-outs should be tagged. 

No change. 

56.  Section 4.1.25 WM This section should also state that upon the approval of King County. Agreed, the section has been revised. Changes as noted. 

57.  Section 4.1.26 WCI As a non-union company, how does this language pertain to us, and/or will we receive details on the 

“combined value of workers’ wages and benefit accruals” to better inform our ability to submit a competitive 

proposal? 

Although this is not a prevailing wage contract, the State’s published 
prevailing wage and benefits for King County is likely close to the 
current contractor wages.  Proponents should provide documentation 
in their proposal  that their compensation package is approximately 
equal to that published amount. 

No change. 

58.  Section 4.1.26 WM This section should be expanded to require the successful proponent pay “prevailing rates.” This is not a prevailing wage contract. No change. 

59.  Section 4.2.2.1 Republic Recycling (and Compostable) charges should be reflected as line items on invoices, particularly in light of China 

Sword. Recycling is not free, and we need to share the value of recycling on the invoices (as shown in Section 

5.1.2). 

There is an ability to expand the recycling list; there should be an opportunity to reduce the list, particularly in 

light of China Sword. 

Moisture is a contaminant and cardboard should be kept dry. Cardboard should fit inside a cart, not exposed 

to the elements, particularly in light of China Sword. 

The base contract approach is to embed recycling services into rates.  

The City and contractor can mutually agree on changes to the list of 
recyclables or material preparation requirements at any point before or 
during the contract term. 

Agreed.  However, customers may occasional have excess amounts that 
require collection. 

No change. 
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60.  Section 4.2.2.2  WM “Residential default Recycling Cart size shall be 96-gallons.”  

The current contract default cart size is 64-gallons; should the City add the alternative to use existing carts 

would the default cart size remain at 64-gallon? 

No, the City would prefer that larger carts be the default, particularly in 
light of keeping carboard dry. 

No change. 

61.  Section 4.2.2.3 WM Since there are no limits on set out volumes for Curbside Recyclables, please consider adding an 2nd Recycle 

Cart rate for customers with a regular need for capacity greater than the default 96-gallons.  This would help in 

keeping material clean and dry for processing and saleable to end markets. 

A second cart “rental” rate has been added. Form 2 has been revised. 

62.  Section 4.2.3.3 WM Please outline the process/criteria the City will use in determining when to designate “storm events.” The City will designate storm events based on current and forecasted 
conditions, ability to distribute a timely message about additional 
collection opportunities, and other relevant factors.  This is a separate 
process from a “disaster declaration” for FEMA purposes and the 
designation will be entirely at the judgment of the City, with input from 
the contractor. 

No change 

63.  Section 4.2.4.3 

and 4.2.5.3 

WM The contract does not allow the Contractor to charge for services (lock/unlock containers/gates or charge for 

locks); this will increase costs to all customers.   Is the City willing to consider charges for these services as 

requested by the customer? 

The City prefers to retain its current no-fee approach.  Unlocked 
enclosures and containers have contributed to unsanitary conditions 
and theft of service.  Eliminating barriers to use of locks is intended to 
reduce these impacts.  

No change. 

64.  Section 4.2.5.3 WM Is Multifamily and Commercial recycling unlimited?   Yes, however, the contractor is under no obligation to accept 
comtaminated recyclables, as noted elsewhere in the contract. No change. 

65.  Section 4.2.11 WM The contract language allows the City to add no more than two additional facilities or parks per year without 

additional compensation to the Contractor; this creates the potential for 20 new facilities to be added over the 

course of the 10-year contract.  There are costs involved in providing services to City facilities. Would the City 

consider changing this language and capping at 10 facilities over the course of the contract and/or any 

requested facilities above the 10, that compensation be negotiated between the City and Contractor? 

The cap has been reduced. Changes as noted. 

66.  Section 4.2.12 WM Special Recycling & Reuse Events.   

Please describe the City’s vision for these events such as; what types of materials will be collected; why 

garbage collection for a special recycle event; length of time event runs; type of equipment, etc. 

 The City envisions these events providing a recycling option for items 
not collected curbside.  For example, Styrofoam, textiles, electronics 
not already collected thru E-Cycle, etc.  The events would most likely be 
one day and the equipment needed would vary depending on the 
material type being collected. 

No change. 

67.  Section 4.2.12 Recology Can the City please provide disposal information related to the “Other City Events” listed in this section? The Final RFP includes this information. Changes as noted. 

68.  Section 4.2.13 Recology Does this provision conflict with the provisions of the City’s contract with Recology StreetScapes? No, this language will take the place of the current Recology contract. No change. 

69.  Section 4.2.13 WM Power washing and graffiti removal are mentioned in the reporting requirements under Section 4.3.4.1 but not 

mentioned in this section; would the City please provide the entire scope of work required.  Also, is it the 

Contractors responsibility to cover disposal costs of collected litter, trash, debris, bulky items, bio hazard 

materials, etc.?  If so, what are the quantities and types of materials disposed within the course of 1-year? 

This section will be expanded to address those services.  The Contractor 
will pay for the disposal of collected materials.  Note that those 
materials are currently put in the City’s public works garbage container 
and are currently handled at the contractor’s cost. 

Changes as noted. 

70.  Section 4.3.2 Recology We believe it would be in the City’s best interest to eliminate the provision allowing for remote call center 

operations.  All proposers in this market have the ability, means, and property to provide a proposal that 

allows for a local call center that best serves the needs of Auburn’s residents.  In fact, in a recent procurement 

in the area, three of the four proposers were willing to operate local call centers, demonstrating that this is an 

achievable requirement. 

No, this would limit the RFP to one or possibly two proponents.  The 
type, capacity and location of a proponent’s call center are part of the 
qualitative evaluation of proposals. 

No change. 

71.  Section 4.3.2 Recology Would the City consider extending its 25 mile requirement to 30 miles for the Contractor’s service base? Yes. Change as noted. 

72.  Section 4.3.2.1 Recology We propose the City require 2 to 3 customer service representatives to be specifically trained in partnership 

with City staff on specific City needs and be primary contacts for all Auburn calls.  This will markedly improve 

the quality of customer service provided to the City.  

This will be a qualitative evaluation element, not a contract 
requirement. 

No change. 
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73.  Section 4.3.3 Recology Please describe what “accepting payment in person from Customers at a location within the City” would 

require.   

This will be negotiated between the contractor and the City.  The City is 
amendable to accepting payments at a drop-box at a City building (City 
Hall or at Utilities). 

No change. 

74.  Section 4.3.4.3 Recology Is it the City’s expectation that an itemized calculation of staff hours would be provided for each report in 

order to track the 100 maximum staff hours per year? 

Yes.  There would need to be some way of determining how much staff 
time has been used under this contract section. 

No change. 

75.  Section 4.3.6 Recology Do the agreements with existing haulers have similar provisions about working in good faith on contract 

transitions? 

 See Question #48. No change. 

76.  Section 5.1.1 WM Senior low-income and/or disabled resident discounts: What is the average monthly number of customers on 

this program and how does the City currently administer the discount? 

The City averages 175 customers on the Senior Discount Program.  The 
City requires residents to re-apply each year during the month of May.  

No change. 

77.  Section 5.1.2 WM Would the City consider a 15% Drop-box disposal mark-up as there are costs associated to manage King 

County Disposal increases allowed as a pass-through? 

Not at this time. 
No change. 

78.  Section 5.1.2 WM Does the City expect to have Administrative Fees in addition to Retail Rates?   

First paragraph of this section states “City Administrative Fees shall be included in Exhibit E rates and not 

itemized separately on Customer invoices”. 

No. RFP has been corrected. 

79.  Section 5.2.1 WM Would the City consider using the WST price escalator or a fixed rate? Yes, those alternatives have been added to Form 2. Changes as noted. 

80.  Section 5.2.6 WM Please consider adding “international” to the list of laws and regulation changes. This is too broad and could result in unintended effects.  The City 
expects that the City and contractor would have a mutual discussion in 
the event that such conditions occur. 

No change. 

81.  Section 8.3.6  Recology Our vicarious liability for the acts of those working on our behalf are covered under contractual liability. 

Responsibility for acts of subcontractors can be addressed in express contractual provisions to that effect 

and do not need to be included in the insurance provisions.  Moreover, we cannot promise that all 

subcontractors will maintain the same levels and types of insurance that we carry because subcontractors 

may play very small roles in the agreement and the size of their businesses may be substantially smaller.  

 

Therefore, we recommends striking this section entirely and including separate insurance requirements 

for subcontractors as follows: 

 

Contractor will request all subcontractors performing work in connection with this Agreement to maintain the 

following minimum insurance: Workers’ Compensation in accordance with applicable law or regulation, 

Employer’s Liability with limits of $1,000,000, Commercial General Liability with limits of $1,000,000 per 

occurrence and $2,000,000 in the annual aggregate, and Automobile Liability insurance with limits of 

$1,000,000. 

The city is investigating modifying the specified section as noted, but 
needs more information before giving a response.  Please resubmit your 
comment in response to the next question period along with 
clarification on what type of work subcontractors might perform for a 
solid waste collection contractor. 

No change at this time. 


